HERITAL



FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

INSPECTOR GENERAL

U.S. Department of Defense

DECEMBER 1, 2014



DoD Needs to Reinitiate Migration to Internet Protocol Version 6

INTEGRITY \star EFFICIENCY \star ACCOUNTABILITY \star EXCELLENCE

The document contains information that may be exempt from mandatory disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act.

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

INTEGRITY * EFFICIENCY * ACCOUNTABILITY * EXCELLENCE

Mission

Our mission is to provide independent, relevant, and timely oversight of the Department of Defense that supports the warfighter; promotes accountability, integrity, and efficiency; advises the Secretary of Defense and Congress; and informs the public.

Vision

Our vision is to be a model oversight organization in the Federal Government by leading change, speaking truth, and promoting excellence—a diverse organization, working together as one professional team, recognized as leaders in our field.



For more information about whistleblower protection, please see the inside back cover.

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY



FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

Results in Brief

DoD Needs to Reinitiate Migration to Internet Protocol Version 6

December 1, 2014

Objective

We determined whether DoD was effectively migrating to Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6).

Finding

Although DoD satisfied the requirement to demonstrate IPv6 on the network backbone by June 2008, DoD did not complete the necessary Federal and DoD requirements and deliverables to effectively migrate the DoD enterprise network to IPv6. This occurred because:

- DoD Chief Information Officer (CIO) and U.S. Cyber Command (USCYBERCOM) did not make IPv6 a priority;
- DoD CIO, USCYBERCOM, and Defense Information Systems Agency (DISA) lacked an effectively coordinated effort and did not use available resources to further DoD-wide transition toward IPv6; and
- DoD CIO did not have a current plan of action and milestones to advance DoD IPv6 migration.

As a result, DoD is not realizing the potential benefits of IPv6, including to battlefield operations. Furthermore, the delay in migration could increase DoD's costs and its vulnerabilities to adversaries.

Management Action Taken

On June 24, 2014, DoD IPv6 representatives met to discuss concerns and how best to authorize IPv6 on DoD networks. The group agreed to begin a limited deployment of IPv6 in October 2014, analyze results, and incrementally expand the deployment as conditions and results permit.

Recommendations

We recommend the DoD CIO:

- establish a DoD-wide IPv6 transition office and working groups to more effectively advance DoD's transition to IPv6;
- coordinate with the Commander, USCYBERCOM; Director, DISA; Commander, U.S. Army Information Systems and Engineering Command; Director, High Performance Computing Modernization Program; and other DoD test and evaluation components to establish a process to ensure test results and lessons learned are integrated into DoD IPv6 migration efforts;
- coordinate with the Commander, USCYBERCOM and the Director, DISA, to develop new DoD IPv6 transition milestones, roles and responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms to ensure successful migration to IPv6; and
- monitor status of IPv6 milestones established above and elevate any delays to the Deputy Secretary of Defense.

Management Comments and Our Response

Comments from the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO fully addressed the recommendations and no additional comments are required. Additionally, we received unsolicited comments from the Director, C4 Systems and CIO Support (J6), USCYBERCOM. Please see the Recommendations Table on the back of this page.

Recommendations Table

Management	Recommendations Requiring Comment	No Additional Comments Required
DoD Chief Information Officer		1, 2, 3, 4



INSPECTOR GENERAL DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 4800 MARK CENTER DRIVE ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA 22350-1500

December 1, 2014

MEMORANDUM FOR DOD CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER

SUBJECT: DoD Needs to Reinitiate Migration to Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6) (DODIG-2015-044)

We are providing this report for your information and use. DoD has not met requirements to migrate the DoD enterprise network to IPv6. Consequently, DoD is not realizing the potential benefits of IPv6, including to battlefield operations, and could experience increased costs from further delays and increased vulnerability from adversaries.

We considered management comments on a draft of this report when preparing the final report. Comments from the Acting DoD Principal Deputy Chief Information Officer fully addressed all recommendations and conformed to the requirements of DoD Directive 7650.3; therefore, we do not require additional comments.

We appreciate the courtesies extended to the staff. Please direct questions to me at (703) 699-7331 (DSN 499-7331).

and M. Hama

Carol N. Gorman Assistant Inspector General Readiness and Cyber Operations

Contents

Introduction			
	Intro	duct	noi
		uuuu	

Objective	1
Background	1
Review of Internal Controls	3
Finding. DoD Is Not Effectively Migrating to IPv6	4
DoD Temporarily Demonstrated IPv6 on Network Backbone	4
DoD Did Not Complete Federal and DoD IPv6 Migration Requirements and Deliverables	5
IPv6 Migration Was a Low Priority	8
IPv6 Migration Efforts Not Effectively Coordinated	10
Plans for Migrating to IPv6 Not Updated	12
IPv6 Benefits Not Realized	13
Management Actions Taken During the Audit	14
Management Comments on the Finding and Our Response	14
Recommendations, Management Comments, and Our Response	17
Appendixes	
Appendix A. Scope and Methodology	20
Use of Computer-Processed Data	21
Prior Coverage	21
Appendix B. Improved Battlefield Operations	22
Appendix C. Unsolicited Management Comments on the Finding and Our Response	23
Management Comments	
DoD Chief Information Officer Comments	34
U.S. Cyber Command Comments	40
Glossary	43
Acronyms and Abbreviations	44

Introduction

Objective

Our objective was to determine whether DoD was effectively migrating to Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6). See Appendix A for a discussion of our scope and methodology and prior audit coverage and the glossary for specialized terms used throughout the report.

Background

The Internet Protocol (IP) is a technical standard that enables computers and other devices to communicate with each other over networks, many of which interconnect to form the Internet. IP provides a standardized "envelope" that carries addressing, routing, and message-handling information, enabling the transmission of a message from its source to its destination over the interconnected networks that make up the Internet. Released in 1978, IP version 4 (IPv4) was the first stable version of the IP based on a 32-bit address format, which provides approximately 4.3 billion IP addresses. With the success of the Internet has come great demand for IP addresses, thereby exhausting the supply of available IPv4 addresses. On February 3, 2011, the Internet Assigned Numbers Authority issued the remaining IPv4 address blocks, thereby exhausting the supply of IPv4 addresses.

In response to the IPv4 address shortage, the Internet Engineering Task Force¹ developed IPv6, which has a vastly expanded address space. IPv6 addresses are composed of 128 bits, which equates to 340 trillion trillion trillion IP addresses. Although the shortage of IPv4 addresses has not been the primary driver for IPv6 migration in DoD (which has about 18 percent of the world's available IPv4 addresses), the greatly expanded address space provides an opportunity to redesign the DoD address space to better accommodate future increased use of networked sensors and mobile devices. Additionally, DoD Component networks enabled by IPv6 will support greater information sharing, resulting in improved military effectiveness. Regions around the world that have limited IPv4 address space, such as Asia and Europe, have undertaken efforts to develop, test, and implement IPv6.

¹ The Internet Engineering Task Force is the international community responsible for producing the Internet's technical standards.

Preferred IPv6 Transition Mechanism

The preferred mechanism for transitioning to IPv6 is to operate a dual stack network in which hosts and routers implement both IPv4 and IPv6. DoD has chosen dual stack as its IPv4 to IPv6 transition strategy. Figure 1 below depicts how dual stack networks can support both IPv4 and IPv6 services and applications during the transition period.



Federal and DoD IPv6 Migration Guidance

On June 9, 2003, the DoD Chief Information Officer (CIO) issued the memorandum, "Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6)," stating that DoD's implementation of IPv6 is necessary because IPv4 has limitations that make it unable to meet long-term commercial and DoD requirements. The memorandum initiated DoD's transition to IPv6, with the goal to complete IPv6 transition by FY 2008. On August 2, 2005, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) issued Memorandum M-05-22, "Transition Planning for Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6)," (OMB M-05-22) to guide the Federal Government in its transition to IPv6. OMB M-05-22 outlined a transition strategy for Federal agencies to follow and established the goal for all network backbones to support IPv6 by June 30, 2008. The Federal Chief Information Officers Council Strategy and Planning Committee's "Planning Guide/Roadmap Toward IPv6 Adoption within the U.S. Government, Version 2.0," July 2012, states Federal agencies achieved the objectives of the 2005 OMB memorandum but noted that continued adoption of IPv6 within Federal enterprises required additional guidance. Furthermore, due to the complexities of full-enterprise transitions, OMB released a later memorandum, "Transition to IPv6," September 28, 2010, which includes specific completion requirements for FY 2012 and FY 2014.

DoD Key Offices Responsible for IPv6 Migration

DoD's key offices for IPv6 migration include the DoD CIO, the Defense Information Systems Agency (DISA), and U.S. Cyber Command (USCYBERCOM).² According to the "Department of Defense Internet Protocol Version 6 Transition Plan, Version 2.0," June 2006, the DoD CIO has overall responsibility for ensuring a coherent, timely transition to IPv6 across the Department that ensures interoperability and security and for issuing policy as needed. DISA is responsible for planning and implementing IPv6 on the Defense Information Systems Network Non-classified Internet Protocol Router Network (NIPRNet) and the Secret Internet Protocol Router Network. Additionally, DISA is responsible for acquiring, allocating, and managing IPv6 address space for DoD; conducting interoperability tests and certification for IPv6 products and capabilities; and ensuring, in conjunction with the National Security Agency (NSA), that IPv6 information assurance problems are identified and included in transition efforts. USCYBERCOM plans, coordinates, integrates, synchronizes, and conducts activities to direct the operations and defense of specified DoD information networks. USCYBERCOM is also responsible for conducting full spectrum military cyberspace operations to enable actions in all domains, and USCYBERCOM approval is necessary to enable IPv6 on the NIPRNet.

Review of Internal Controls

DoD Instruction 5010.40, "Managers' Internal Control Program Procedures," May 30, 2013, requires DoD organizations to implement a comprehensive system of internal controls that provides reasonable assurance that programs are operating as intended and to evaluate the effectiveness of the controls. We identified internal control weaknesses relating to DoD's migration to IPv6. Specifically, DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority and DoD's key offices for IPv6 migration lacked effective communication and did not properly plan to ensure the required resources were available to implement IPv6. Moreover, the DoD CIO did not update "The Department of Defense Internet Protocol Version 6 Transition Plan, Version 2.0," June 2006 (DoD IPv6 Transition Plan) to include revised requirements and additional roles and responsibilities for IPv6 migration. We will provide a copy of this report to the senior official responsible for internal controls in DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM.

² USCYBERCOM was formed in 2010 by consolidating two of U.S. Strategic Command's subordinate organizations: Joint Functional Component Command–Network Warfare and Joint Task Force–Global Network Operations.

Finding

DoD Is Not Effectively Migrating to IPv6

Although DoD satisfied the OMB M-05-22 requirement to demonstrate IPv6 on the network backbone by June 2008, DoD did not complete the Federal and DoD requirements and deliverables to effectively migrate the DoD enterprise network to IPv6. This occurred because:

- DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority;
- DoD CIO, DISA and USCYBERCOM, lacked an effectively coordinated effort and did not use available resources to further DoD-wide transition toward IPv6 operations; and
- DoD CIO did not have a current plan of action and milestones to advance DoD IPv6 migration efforts.

As a result, DoD is not realizing the potential benefits of IPv6, including to battlefield operations.³ Furthermore, the delay in migration could increase DoD's costs and its vulnerability to adversaries.

³ Battlefield operations include the movement, supply, attack, defense, and maneuvers needed to win any battle or campaign. See Appendix B for an illustration.

DoD Temporarily Demonstrated IPv6 on Network Backbone

DoD satisfied the OMB M-05-22 requirement to demonstrate IPv6 on the network backbone but disabled IPv6 functionality following the demonstration. As required by OMB M-05-22, the DoD CIO designated an IPv6 Transition Manager to lead and coordinate planning efforts to transition DoD's network backbone infrastructure by 2008. DISA, which manages the NIPRNet, assessed and determined the backbone configuration changes which were required to make the infrastructure IPv6 capable.

(FOUO) In FY 2008, DoD satisfied the OMB M-05-22 requirement by temporarily demonstrating IPv6 capability on the NIPRNet through a series of tests.

Although the successful demonstration of IPv6 on NIPRNet was an important milestone, DoD CIO documented that further

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

Finding

(FOUO) security implementation guidance and certified information assurance devices must be available before enabling IPv6 on the NIPRNet. According to the DoD IPv6 transition manager, DoD disabled IPv6 functionality following the demonstration, due to a lack of trained personnel and potential security risks.

DoD Did Not Complete Federal and DoD IPv6 Migration Requirements and Deliverables

Although DoD temporarily demonstrated the OMB M-05-22 requirements in 2008, DoD has not met later OMB requirements to support enterprise networks to operationally use native⁴ IPv6. In addition, DoD Components have not completed the Federal and DoD requirements and deliverables to effectively migrate to IPv6.

OMB IPv6 Migration Requirements Not Met

DoD did not meet OMB's FY 2012 and FY 2014 IPv6 requirements. On September 28, 2010, OMB issued a memorandum for all Executive Branch Department and agency CIOs titled, "Transition to IPv6," which emphasized the

DoD did not meet OMB's FY 2012 and FY 2014 IPv6 requirements.

Federal Government's commitment to the operational deployment and use of IPv6. The memorandum listed deadlines that each Federal agency was required to meet by the end of FY 2012 and FY 2014 to facilitate timely and effective IPv6 adoption. By the end of FY 2012, agencies were required to upgrade their public/external facing servers and services, such as Web, e-mail, and domain name systems, to operationally use native IPv6. By the end of FY 2014, agencies were required to

upgrade internal client applications that communicate with public Internet servers and supporting enterprise networks to operationally use native IPv6. However, DoD did not meet either FY requirement.

As of December 2013, according to the Director, Architecture and Interoperability, Office of the DoD CIO, the new estimated date for meeting the FY 2012 requirement was June 2014 for e-mail and domain name systems and September 2015 for the Web. Likewise, the Director stated that DoD would have the infrastructure available to provide internal IPv6 access to public Internet servers through IPv6-enabled and -protected Defense Enterprise Computing Centers in FY 2015. However, as of April 28, 2014, representatives from DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM stated that a DoD IPv6 pilot must be created before DoD can begin to implement IPv6 on the network. The USCYBERCOM director of Command, Control, Communications, and Cyber Systems and CIO Support stated the pilot was

⁴ Native IPv6 means transition to IPv6 without the use of translators, tunnels (IPv4 carrying IPv6). End users can communicate entirely via IPv6.

necessary to enable secure implementation of IPv6. As of July 10, 2014, according to DoD CIO officials, the estimated completion dates for OMB's requirements were no longer valid and revised dates were dependent on the IPv6 pilot results.

DoD-Wide IPv6 Migration Efforts Are Lacking

DoD-wide IPv6 migration efforts are lacking, although some DoD Components have taken steps to comply with Federal and DoD IPv6 requirements. For example, officials from the Navy's Program Executive Officer for Command, Control, Communications and Intelligence stated that Navy acquisition program offices key to enabling IPv6 have procured IPv6 capable devices and conducted lab network testing since 2006. The Space and Naval Warfare Systems Command, according to its Program Executive Office Tactical Networks Technical Director, requires operational testing on the DoD DISA-operated network to continue IPv6 migration efforts. However, DISA does not have an estimated time when the DoD network will be made available for IPv6 operational testing.

Since 2005, Federal and DoD policies mandate the completion of several key requirements and deliverables to facilitate an effective IPv6 migration.

- OMB-M-05-22, states agencies must complete an inventory of existing routers, switches, and hardware firewalls, and begin an inventory of all other existing IP-compliant devices and technologies by November 2005.
- "DoD IPv6 Transition Plan, Version 2.0," June 2006, requires each DoD Component to ensure an IPv6 Transition Plan is developed that includes network transition strategies, transition activities, and timelines.
- "DoD IPv6 Transition Plan, Version 2.0" also states DoD Components must establish an IPv6 Transition Office to manage IPv6 transition within the DoD Component.
- DoD CIO memorandum, "DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6) Implementation," February 6, 2008, requires DoD Components to include IPv6 transition resource requirements in Program Objective Memorandum submissions for FY 2010 and beyond to effectively prioritize IPv6 resources and efforts across DoD.
- "Planning Guide/Roadmap Toward IPv6 Adoption within the U.S. Government, Version 2.0" states that developing and maintaining an Agency Addressing Plan encompassing IPv4 and IPv6 plans will help speed up the deployment of IPv6.

However, some DoD Components have not completed these IPv6 requirements or developed the key IPv6 deliverables to prepare for migration and are therefore not ready to migrate. The table below provides the status of the specific DoD Components that we reviewed—Army, Navy, Air Force, Washington Headquarters Services/Mark Center, and the Defense Logistics Agency—in completing the requirements and critical IPv6 initiatives.

Requirements & Deliverables	Army	Navy	Air Force	Washington Headquarters Services/ Mark Center	Defense Logistics Agency
Complete Inventory of IP-Compliant Devices	No; inventory was complete February 2013 but no support provided for complete inventory.	No; officials stated Navy maintains inventory of IP-compliant devices but provided no documentation.	No	Yes	Yes
IPv6 Transition Plan	No, officials provided a draft 2004 plan, but as of August 2014, that plan was not approved.	Yes	No	No; officials stated they were waiting for a transition plan to be completed by their service provider.	No*
IPv6 Transition Office	No; officials established IPv6 working group and transition was up to individual commands.	No; its transition office closed FY 2012.	No; its transition office closed in 2012.	No	No; officials working to establish an IPv6 transition team.
Program Objective Memorandum for IPv6 Transition Resources	No; officials plan to develop a budget estimate for first quarter FY 2015.	No	No	No; officials stated they submitted a POM request, but it was not approved.	No
IPv6 Addressing Plan	No; officials provided a draft 2012 plan, but as of August 2014, that plan was not approved.	Yes, but it requires updating.	Yes, but it requires updating.	No; officials stated they are waiting for an addressing plan to be completed by their service provider.	Yes

Table. DoD Component Status in Completing IPv6 Requirements and Developing Key IPv6 Deliverables

* Officials provided a 2012 IPv6 Implementation Guide, however an IPv6 Transition Plan has not been completed.

IPv6 Migration Was a Low Priority

DoD's key offices responsible for IPv6 migration did not make IPv6 a high priority. Specifically, the DoD CIO did not maintain a DoD IPv6 transition office or working group to advance DoD IPv6 migration, and the USCYBERCOM division chief of Cyber Operations Planning stated USCYBERCOM was focused on defense of the IPv4 network and that there was no operational imperative for DoD to move to IPv6.

DoD CIO Did Not Maintain a Transition Office or Working Group to Advance IPv6 Migration

The DoD CIO, responsible for ensuring a coherent and timely IPv6 migration, did not maintain an IPv6 transition office or working group to advance DoD's IPv6 implementation. In March 2004, DISA, at the request of the DoD CIO, established the DoD IPv6 Transition Office (DITO) to ensure a comprehensive, timely transition with responsibility for developing common engineering solutions and guidance. In addition, the DITO was responsible for coordinating transition planning and implementation efforts across the DoD to reduce transition costs and avoid duplicative efforts. However, upon completion of development, engineering, and technical guidance required for the IPv6 transition, the DoD CIO released DISA from the DITO mission in July 2011, rather than directing the DITO to continue coordinating IPv6 implementation efforts throughout DoD.

According to the technical advisor to the Air Force CIO, DITO helped to focus the Military Services on the goal of IPv6 implementation, and once the DITO was disestablished, the Services lost focus on IPv6 efforts. Therefore, maintaining the

...once the DITO was disestablished, the Services lost focus on IPv6 efforts.

DITO would have helped to address emergent technical issues and assist DoD Components in meeting IPv6 implementation objectives. During a meeting with DoD's key offices and Service personnel responsible for IPv6 in April 2014, other DoD Components also agreed that reestablishment of working groups would be beneficial to DoD's IPv6 migration. To help facilitate the implementation of IPv6 in DoD, the DoD CIO should establish the DoD-wide IPv6 transition office and working groups.

USCYBERCOM Focused on IPv4



FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

The



division chief also stated IPv6 was not a priority and that USCYBERCOM believed DoD did not have an operational imperative to move to IPv6. However, select combatant commands have shown a need for IPv6.

In response to USPACOM's request, DISA provided a plan to enable pilot connections by March 1, 2014. However, according to the USPACOM CIO, DISA missed the March 2014 deadline for enabling IPv6.

The USCYBERCOM director of Command, Control, Communications, and Cyber and CIO Support stated funding constraints contributed to USCYBERCOM's lack of priority for IPv6. The division chief stated that because USCYBERCOM was not fully aware of the potential risks in transitioning to IPv6 or in protecting the IPv6 network, it prioritized funds to protect the current IPv4 network. The OMB IPv6 chief architect said that based on his meetings with DoD IPv6 representatives, he believes IPv6 was not given exposure or priority by senior DoD leaders. Additionally, the chief engineer of the Defense Research and Engineering Network (DREN)—who has achieved IPv6 operations on the DREN (which is separate from the NIPRNet)—stated that DoD is focusing only on short-term benefits IPv6 can bring to the Department. The chief engineer (also the network security manager for Space and Naval Warfare Systems Command and a Federal IPv6 Task Force member) added that DoD needs to take steps toward transitioning to IPv6 operations but must start now to gain the experience necessary for successful transition.

⁵ The Joint Information Environment is a secure environment, comprising shared information technology infrastructure, enterprise services, and a single security architecture to achieve full-spectrum superiority, improve mission effectiveness, increase security, and realize information technology efficiencies.

IPv6 Migration Efforts Not Effectively Coordinated



Ineffective Coordination Impeded IPv6 Migration

(FOUO) DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM did not conduct effective coordination to move forward with DoD's IPv6 implementation. In April 2011, the DoD IPv6 transition manager issued the "DoD Implementation Plan for OMB FYs 2012 and 2014 IPv6 Requirements," which identified security problems as a primary planning concern and critical dependency for the DoD IPv6 implementation. To assess the security risks associated with OMB's FY 2012 IPv6 requirement, the DoD CIO directed the NSA to conduct a DoD enterprise-wide risk analysis. In July 2011, the NSA Information Assurance Directorate concluded that the FY 2012 IPv6 requirements do not present a significant additional security risk. In addition NSA concluded that extensive documentation exists for securely implementing IPv6.



(FOUO) According to the technical director for the NSA Information Assurance Directorate, the main concern at that time (FY 2011) was that defensive systems and sensors had not yet evolved to include IPv6 functionality. However, as of March 2014, those tools are IPv6-capable. The DoD IPv6 transition manager stated the DoD CIO has been requesting a communications tasking order since November 2012, but USCYBERCOM has not changed its position or elaborated on its IPv6 security concerns, other than to suggest the need for further pilot testing. As of February 2014, DISA had no meetings scheduled with USCYBERCOM to discuss

⁶ A communications tasking order is a method to communicate to components, specific instructions for what they need to accomplish a certain mission.

(FOUO) ways to solve problems. In fact, the DISA IPv6 lead stated that the two groups have met only once to discuss IPv6 since he took over DISA IPv6 efforts in December 2013.

Conversely,

the Director, C4 Systems and CIO Support (J6) stated that DISA and USCYBERCOM met once and talked on the phone twice during this period. However, the DISA IPv6 lead was unaware of the meeting and phone conversations.

DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM Did Not Ensure Effective Use of DoD Resources in IPv6 Migration

Although the DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM met in February 2014 to discuss strategy and the status of DoD's IPv6 migration, they did not coordinate to ensure effective use of available resources, such as DREN lessons learned or test results from the Army Technology Integration Center (TIC). For example, USCYBERCOM officials stated that one of the biggest risks of IPv6 transition was a lack of knowledge about IPv6 and the need for pilot testing before implementation. However, in 2003, the DoD CIO designated the High Performance Computing Modernization Program's (HPCMP)⁷ DREN⁸ as the first DoD IPv6 pilot network to ensure their best practices could help facilitate the DoD-wide IPv6 implementation. The entire DREN wide-area network routinely supported end-to-end IPv6 traffic, several sites supported IPv6 and IPv4 (dual stack), and selected applications were IPv6 enabled by July 2005. In 2009, the DREN completed their transition from an IPv4 network which supports IPv6 to an IPv6 network with legacy IPv4 support. According to a 2009 HPCMP point paper, the DREN accomplished the IPv6 transition without additional personnel and with less than \$100,000 in additional funding. The point paper also noted that performance and security were as good as and in some ways better than pre-IPv6 pilot levels. According to the HPCMP Associate Director for Networking, the DREN backbone and several sites are now fully dual stack and all management of network infrastructure is accomplished using IPv6.

In addition to the DREN, the DISA Joint Interoperability Test Command (JITC) tests and certifies information technology products for IPv6 capabilities, and the Army TIC tests security and monitoring devices, including penetration testing for IPv6. Specifically, the JITC tests DoD vendors' equipment for IPv6 functionality and to ensure IPv6 performs at least as well as IPv4 (functional parity). According to a JITC electronic engineer, by 2009, JITC had more than 100 vendors participating

⁷ HPCMP is an Office of the Secretary of Defense program managed, since 2011, by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.

⁸ DREN is an element of the DoD HPCMP, and was formed from elements of the Army, Air Force, and Navy supercomputing networks to be the DoD's premier research, development, test, and evaluation network connecting DoD high-performing computing centers with users.

in IPv6 functionality testing. Furthermore, according to Army TIC personnel, the TIC tests vendor claims about security and tested firewalls, intrusion-detection systems, intrusion-prevention systems, and network controls, including a comparison of IPv4 and IPv6. Once testing is completed, TIC analyzes the data, determines whether or not the equipment passed and reports the results to the Army Certification Authority to issue a certificate. The certificate certifies that the device tested meets IPv6 Capable Simple Server interoperability requirements. The Army TIC also set up an IPv6 lab, which ran performance tests to compare a dual stack environment with a native IPv6 environment. As of July 7, 2014, there were 88 special interoperability test certification memorandums issued for IPv6 capability. USCYBERCOM expressed concerns over enabling IPv6 but has not used any of the test results nor communicated with the DREN, JITC, or Army TIC. Likewise, DISA had not used the lessons learned from the DREN. The DoD CIO should coordinate with Components to establish a process to ensure these testing resources and lessons learned are used to effectively advance DoD's IPv6 migration.

Plans for Migrating to IPv6 Not Updated

DoD CIO has not updated the June 2006 DoD IPv6 Transition Plan, which stated that DoD CIO is responsible for approving and updating the DoD IPv6 Transition Plan and updates. The June 2006 DoD IPv6 Transition Plan contained the overall strategy for IPv6 transition, identified roles and responsibilities of DoD Components, and outlined IPv6 milestones. However, the DoD CIO did not update the plan to include the roles and responsibilities of USCYBERCOM, which was established in 2009. The DoD IPv6 Transition Plan also contained a governance structure for addressing critical aspects of the transition; this structure consisted of the working groups and the DITO, which no longer exist. Furthermore, DoD has not met the milestones established in the plan, the last of which was for Components to be authorized to operate IPv6 enterprise-wide by FY 2008.

In addition, DoD's IPv6 implementation plan, issued in April 2011, contained the methodology and actions to coordinate and guide the DoD's efforts for compliance with the OMB FY 2012 IPv6 requirements and laid groundwork for compliance with FY 2014 requirements. However, DoD did not accomplish the FY 2012 and FY 2014 requirements to operationally enable native IPv6. Although the requirements were not met by the planned dates, DoD has not issued an updated implementation plan. The DoD CIO, in coordination with DISA, and USCYBERCOM should develop new milestones, roles and responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms to provide DoD with a detailed approach to further IPv6 migration.

IPv6 Benefits Not Realized

DoD is not realizing IPv6 potential benefits to DoD operations, such as the ability to improve situational awareness for warfighters and commanders during battle maneuvers. See Appendix B for an illustration of the improved battlefield operations. Additionally, DoD could experience increased costs of IPv6, due to the delay in migration and increased risk from adversaries attempting to exploit DoD networks.

Delayed Benefits of IPv6 in Battlefield Operations

Continued use of IPv4 will delay the potential benefits of IPv6, such as improved communication, warfighter mobility, situational awareness, and quality of service. IPv4 is unable to meet the future requirements of battlefield operations. Cyber and

IPv6 subject matter experts agree that IPv4 cannot support future networking and combat system demands. For example, according to the DoD IPv6 transition manager, it took 2 months to create an operational network in Iraq using IPv4, whereas using IPv6 would have allowed this network to be created in hours. Secure ad hoc networking and mobility provided by IPv6 auto-configuration capabilities, as well as improved end-to-end security and simplified network management capabilities, enable individuals and entire units to disconnect from military base networks, travel into

Continued use of IPv4 will delay the potential benefits of IPv6, such as improved communication, warfighter mobility, situational awareness, and quality of service.

theater, and quickly establish communications. Additionally, IPv6 capabilities will allow warfighters and commanders to improve situational awareness during deployment and battle operations allowing units to securely move from one wireless network to another.

Further Delay Could Raise IPv6 Migration Costs and Increase Risk from Adversaries

The longer DoD waits to migrate to IPv6, the more expensive the migration will become. In October 2007, the DoD IPv6 transition manager prepared a white paper to document benefits of IPv6 migration. He stated that the longer DoD delays IPv6 implementation, the more embedded IPv4 will become in critical mission systems. The result will be increased transition difficulty, complexity, and cost. He also stated in June 2014 that this information is still accurate. Furthermore, adversaries are gaining experience using IPv6, and DoD's delayed migration is leaving network security personnel without the expertise to identify malicious activity in the new IPv6 environment. According to the DoD IPv6 transition manager and Federal CIO Council personnel, China is forging ahead with native IPv6 implementations.

Management Actions Taken During the Audit

On April 28, 2014, a meeting was held between DoD CIO, DISA, USCYBERCOM, NSA, DREN, Army, Navy, Air Force, and Marine Corps personnel to discuss DoD's IPv6 migration. The DoD CIO led the meeting and requested input from the other DoD Components on the migration. Specifically, the participants discussed the actions necessary to enable DoD's IPv6 migration and to develop a plan to solve IPv6 implementation problems. As a result, the DoD CIO assumed responsibility for gathering input from the Components and for beginning the planning for a DoD IPv6 pilot implementation.

On June 24, 2014, representatives from DoD CIO, DISA, USCYBERCOM, NSA, DREN, Army, Navy, and Marine Corps met to discuss IPv6 cybersecurity concerns and how best to authorize IPv6 on DoD networks. The group agreed to begin a limited deployment of IPv6 in October 2014, analyze cybersecurity results, and incrementally expand the deployment as conditions and results permit. The group set January 31, 2015, as the deadline for analyzing the results and recommending a way forward to the DoD CIO. We commend the DoD CIO and the other participants for taking steps to reinitiate IPv6 transition efforts across the Department. However, the DoD CIO should also establish the DoD IPv6 transition office and its associated working groups to further ensure coordination of Component IPv6 implementation efforts. In addition, the DoD CIO, who has overall responsibility for ensuring a timely IPv6 transition across the Department, should closely monitor and enforce the achievement of established IPv6 implementation milestones and hold Components accountable for any delays.

Management Comments on the Finding and Our Response

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO, responding for the DoD CIO, provided comments on sections of the finding, which are summarized below. For the full text of the Acting Principal Deputy's comments, see the Management Comments section of the report. Although not required to comment, the Director, C4 Systems and CIO Support (J6), USCYBERCOM also provided comments. See Appendix C for USCYBERCOM comments and our responses and for the full text of the Director's comments, see the Management Comments section of the report.

Management Comments on Not Making IPv6 a Priority

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO, responding for the DoD CIO, disagreed that DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority, stating IPv6 is a DoD priority but conducting an expensive transition from IPv4 to an IPv6 environment is neither cost effective nor warranted. He also stated there is no DoD Component operational imperative or business case to implement IPv6.

Our Response

(FOUO) We disagree that IPv6 implementation is not warranted. As stated in this report, OMB issued a memorandum for all Executive Branch Department and agency CIOs titled, "Transition to IPv6," September 28, 2010, which listed deadlines that each Federal agency was required to meet by the end of FY 2012 and FY 2014 to facilitate timely and effective IPv6 adoption. DoD did not meet OMB's FY 2012 and FY 2014 IPv6 requirements.

Management Comments on Lack of Effective Coordination and Use of Available Resources to Further IPv6 Migration

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO disagreed that the DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM lacked an effectively coordinated effort and did not use available resources to further DoD-wide transition toward IPv6 operations. He said the Department effectively coordinated with all Components to ensure networks were capable of using IPv6. He stated the DoD CIO is collaborating with DISA and USCYBERCOM to develop an updated plan of action and milestones, which include development of a limited IPv6 deployment plan in the first quarter of FY 2015. With respect to the use of available resources, the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO stated that the Department leveraged and will continue to leverage available test and evaluation resources as the DoD IPv6 implementation evolves.

Our Response

We commend the Department for coordinating with all Components to ensure networks are capable of using IPv6. However, the criterion we used to determine whether DoD was effectively migrating to IPv6 was OMB memorandum, "Transition to IPv6," September 28, 2010. The OMB memorandum listed deadlines that each Federal agency was required to meet by the end of FY 2012 and FY 2014 to facilitate timely and effective IPv6 adoption. Additionally, we disagree with the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO's comments that DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM have used available resources to further DoD-wide IPv6 implementation. As we state in this report, USCYBERCOM officials stated one of the biggest risks of IPv6 transition was a lack of knowledge about IPv6 and the need for pilot testing before implementation. However, the IPv6 transition experience gained by the DREN as far back as 2003 was not fully considered.

Management Comments on Lack of Plan of Action and Milestones for IPv6 Migration

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO partially agreed that the DoD CIO did not have a current plan of action or milestones to advance DoD IPv6 migration efforts. He stated that DoD developed a transition plan in 2006 and a follow-on plan of action and milestones in 2011 advancing IPv6 implementation efforts. He stated the 2011 plan of action and milestones are still relevant but that the timelines and scope have changed as a result of evolving technology and cyber threats. DoD CIO is revisiting development of a limited IPv6 deployment plan with DISA and USCYBERCOM by the 2nd quarter of FY 2015 and development of an updated plan of action and milestones.

Our Response

Although we requested that the DoD IPv6 transition manager provide a copy of the most current plan of action and milestones for IPv6 implementation, we were not provided with the 2011 plan. Therefore, we could not determine whether the plan of action and milestones were still relevant. However, in the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO's comments to Recommendation 3, he stated that the DoD CIO will draft and coordinate a memorandum with transition milestones, roles, responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms for each DoD office involved in the IPv6 implementation. That action will address the need for an updated plan.

Additional Management Comments

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO included in his comments, a copy of a Department of the Navy Deputy CIO memorandum, which was provided to the OIG on May 9, 2014. The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO stated that information provided in the Department of Navy memorandum was not taken into account in the final draft report. The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO also stated that the Navy recommended, during the review of the discussion draft report, that the OIG aggregate interview responses from individual commands to the Military Service level.

Our Response

The DoD OIG fully considered the Department of the Navy Deputy CIO memorandum's statement that the Navy has maintained an inventory of IP-compliant devices and technologies since 2009. However, we did not receive any supporting documentation to verify that the Navy completed an inventory of existing IP-compliant devices and technologies as required by OMB Memorandum M-05-22, "Transition Planning for Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6)," August 2, 2005. Additionally, the OIG requested clarification from the Navy IPv6 point of contact regarding aggregation of responses from individual commands to the Military Service level but did not receive a response.

Recommendations, Management Comments, and Our Response

We recommend DoD Chief Information Officer:

Recommendation 1

Establish a DoD-wide Internet Protocol Version 6 transition office and working groups to advance DoD's transition to Internet Protocol Version 6. At a minimum, working groups should include representation from Defense Information Systems Agency, U.S. Cyber Command, Defense Research and Engineering Network, and Service Chief Information Officers.

DoD Chief Information Officer Comments

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO, responding for the DoD CIO, disagreed, stating there is no need for a DoD IPv6 transition office with dedicated resources. He said the DoD has adopted a more agile and resource-efficient approach by establishing a steering group to coordinate Department IPv6 implementation actions, address cybersecurity problems, and define the way forward to obtain authorization of IPv6 on DoD networks. The steering group is led by the DoD CIO and consists of representatives from DISA, USCYBERCOM, DREN, and Military Department CIOs. Additionally, DISA has established an Integrated Project Team to address the technical aspects required to implement IPv6 actions.

Our Response

Although the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO disagreed with the recommendation, the establishment of a steering group fully addressed the intent of the recommendation, and no further comments are required.

Recommendation 2

In coordination with the Commander, U.S. Cyber Command; the Director, Defense Information Systems Agency; the Commander, U.S. Army Information Systems and Engineering Command/Army Technology Integration Center; the Director, High Performance Computing Modernization Program/Defense Research and Engineering Network; and other DoD test and evaluation components, establish a process to integrate component testing results and lessons learned into DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 migration efforts.

DoD Chief Information Officer Comments

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO, responding for the DoD CIO, agreed, stating the DoD CIO will continue to work with the various test centers to assess IPv6 threats and develop appropriate countermeasures. Additionally, he stated the DISA Integrated Project Team will integrate component testing results and lessons learned to guide IPv6 implementation efforts and inform the pace, scope, and timing of the IPv6 deployment.

Our Response

Comments from the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO fully addressed the recommendation, and no further comments are required.

Recommendation 3

In coordination with the Commander, U.S. Cyber Command, and the Director, Defense Information Systems Agency, develop new DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 transition milestones, roles and responsibilities of each DoD office involved with the migration, and enforcement mechanisms to ensure successful migration to Internet Protocol Version 6; and update the DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 Transition Plan to reflect these changes.

DoD Chief Information Officer Comments

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO, responding for the DoD CIO, agreed, stating the DoD CIO will draft and coordinate a memorandum with transition milestones, roles, responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms for each DoD office involved in the IPv6 implementation with input from DISA, USCYBERCOM, NSA, Military Department CIOs, HPCMP/DREN, and other DoD test and evaluation components, as appropriate. The DoD CIO will issue the updated plan of action and milestones in the third quarter of FY 2015.

Our Response

Comments from the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO fully addressed the recommendation, and no further comments are required.

Recommendation 4

Develop procedures to monitor the status of Internet Protocol Version 6 milestones as identified in Recommendation 3 and elevate milestone deficiencies to the Deputy Secretary of Defense for information and potential corrective action if delays exceed 90 days.

DoD Chief Information Officer Comments

The Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO, responding for the DoD CIO, partially agreed, stating the DoD CIO will monitor the status of all IPv6 milestones contained in the plan of action and milestones and elevate deficiencies exceeding 90 days on a case-by-case basis.

Our Response

The actions identified by the Acting Principal Deputy DoD CIO in response to Recommendation 3 and the decision to elevate deficiencies exceeding 90 days on a case-by-case basis meets the intent of the recommendation. Therefore, no further comments are required.

Appendix A

Scope and Methodology

We conducted this performance audit from December 2013 through September 2014 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

To determine whether DoD was effectively migrating to IPv6, we interviewed officials from the following offices responsible for DoD's overall IPv6 migration: DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM. Additionally, we interviewed officials responsible for IPv6 migration at the following organizations:

- U.S. Pacific Command,
- Military Departments (Army, Navy, and Air Force),
- Defense Logistics Agency,
- Washington Headquarters Services,
- High Performance Computing Modernization Program, and
- Space and Naval Warfare Systems Command.

We obtained and analyzed DoD IPv6 planning documents, to include:

- DoD IPv6 Master Test Plan, Version 1.0, September 2005, and Version 2.0, September 2006;
- DoD IPv6 Transition Plan, Version 1, March 2005, and Version 2.0, June 2006;
- DoD IPv6 Integrated Implementation Schedule, Version 1.0, October 4, 2007;
- NIPRNet IPv6 Compliance Demonstration, Version 1.0, June 2008;
- FY 2009 DoD IPv6 Test and Evaluation Report, February 2010 (compiled from field tests, exercises, demonstrations, experiments, simulations, and analyses conducted from 2005 through 2010);
- Director of National Intelligence/DoD IPv6 Information Assurance Guidance for Milestone Objective 3, Version 1.0, June 2010; and
- DoD Implementation Plan for OMB FYs 2012 and 2014 IPv6 Requirements, April 2011.

We developed requests for information to determine the status and progress made to enable IPv6 on DoD's backbone networks and DoD Component networks. We compared IPv6 status-reporting documentation against numerous Federal and DoD IPv6 policies and guidance, including:

- Federal Chief Information Officers Council, "Planning Guide/Roadmap Toward IPv6 Adoption within the U.S. Government, Version 2.0," July 2012;
- OMB Memorandum M-05-22, "Transition Planning for Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6)," August 2, 2005;
- OMB Memorandum, "Transition to IPv6," September 28, 2010;
- DoD CIO Memorandum, "Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6)," June 9, 2003;
- DoD CIO Memorandum, "DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6) Implementation," February 6, 2008; and
- Assistant Secretary of Defense for Networks and Information Integration Memorandum, "Guidance and Policy for Implementation of OMB IPv6 FYs 2012 and 2014 Requirements," March 7, 2011.

Use of Computer-Processed Data

We did not use computer-processed data to perform this audit.

Prior Coverage

During the last 5 years, the Army Audit Agency issued a report discussing the Army's migration to IPv6. Unrestricted Army reports can be accessed from .mil and gao.gov domains at https://www.aaa.army.mil/.

Army

Army Audit Agency Report No. A-2011-0149-IET, "Internet Protocol Version 6," July 11, 2011

Appendix B

Improved Battlefield Operations

According to the DoD IPv6 transition manager, DoD Component networks, enabled by IPv6, will increase our military's effectiveness by supporting greater information sharing to enhance decision making and situational awareness. The figure below depicts six benefits that IPv6 implementation can bring to battlefield operations.



Appendix C

Unsolicited Management Comments on the Finding and Our Response

Although not required to comment, the Director, C4 Systems and CIO Support (J6), USCYBERCOM provided the following comments on the finding. The Director stated USCYBERCOM concurred with all recommendations in the report.

Item 1. (Overall Draft Report)

Management Comment

The Director said that the DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM should be listed in that order in the final report.

Our Response

We agreed with the Director's comment and made the change.

Item 2. (Page 3, Internal Controls)

Excerpt: "Specifically, DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority and DoD's key offices for IPv6 migration lacked effective communication and did not properly plan to ensure the required resources were available to implement IPv6."

Management Comment

The Director requested that we revise the sentence to state: "Specifically, because of funding constraints and competing operational requirements, DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM..."

Our Response

The body of the draft report on page 10, in the first and second paragraphs, states, "USCYBERCOM focused on the defense of the IPv4 network due to an increased threat environment" and "funding constraints contributed to USCYBERCOM's lack of priority for IPv6." Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 3. (Page 4, Finding)

Excerpt: "DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority"

Management Comment

The Director asked that we revise the first bullet to state: "DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority because of competing operational requirements and budget constraints."

Our Response

The body of the draft report on page 10, in the first and second paragraphs, states, "USCYBERCOM focused on the defense of the IPv4 network due to an increased threat environment" and "funding constraints contributed to USCYBERCOM's lack of priority for IPv6." Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 4. (Page 4, Finding)

Excerpt: "As a result, DoD is not realizing the potential benefits of IPv6, including to battlefield operations. Furthermore, the delay in migration could increase DoD's costs and its vulnerability to adversaries."

Management Comment

The Director recommended we revise the excerpt to state: "As a result, DoD is not realizing the potential benefits of IPv6."

Our Response

Our description of the likely effect on battlefield operations and the increased costs and vulnerabilities is fully supported by DoD and Federal Government reports. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 5. (Page 4, Finding)

Excerpt: "DoD CIO did not have a current plan of action and milestones to advance DoD IPv6 migration efforts."

Management Comment

The Director recommended that we revise the order of the bullets in the finding paragraph.

Our Response

We consider the current order of the bullets to be consistent with the points made in the report finding. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 6. (Page 6, IPv6 Migration Requirements Not Met)

Excerpt: "However, as of April 28, 2014, representatives from DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM stated that a DoD IPv6 pilot must be created before DoD can begin to implement IPv6 on the network."

Management Comment

The Director requested that we revise the sentence to state: "...DoD IPv6 pilot must be created to enable secure implementation before DoD can begin to implement IPv6 on the network."

Our Response

The sentence on page 6 of the draft report states, "...the pilot was necessary to enable secure implementation of IPv6." Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 7. (Page 9, IPv6 Migration was a Low Priority)

Excerpt: "...and the USCYBERCOM division chief of Cyber Operations Planning stated USCYBERCOM was focused on defense of the IPv4 network and that there was no operational imperative for DoD to move to IPv6."

Management Comment

The Director requested that we revise the sentence to state: "...USCYBERCOM was focused on defense of the IPv4 network because of a significantly increased threat environment..."

Our Response

The sentence was a quote made by the division chief in a February 2014 meeting. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 8. (Page 10, USCYBERCOM Focused on IPv4)

Excerpt: "The division chief also stated IPv6 was not a priority and that USCYBERCOM believed DoD did not have an operational imperative to move to IPv6."

Management Comment

The Director requested that we revise the sentence to state: "The division chief also stated that because of a significant increase in IPv4 threat activity and likely risk associated with transitioning to IPv6 and protecting the IPv6 network, it focused effort on protecting the current IPv4 network."

Our Response

The sentence was a quote made by the division chief in a February 2014 meeting. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 9-11. (Page 11, IPv6 Migration Efforts Not Effectively Coordinated)

(FOUO) Excerpt:

In addition, DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not coordinate their use of testing resources."

Management Comment

The Director requested that we delete the excerpt. Additionally, the Director stated that DISA has responsibility to perform testing as identified on page 3 of the draft report, "DoD Key Offices Responsible for IPv6 Migration."

Our Response

(FOUO)

Additionally, the "Department of Defense Internet Protocol Version 6 Transition Plan, Version 2.0," June 30, 2006, assigned DISA responsibility for ensuring, in conjunction with the NSA, that IPv6 information assurance problems are identified and included in transition efforts. However, as we note in this report, DoD CIO did not update the plan to include the roles and responsibilities of USCYBERCOM, established in 2009. According to the USCYBERCOM mission statement, USCYBERCOM will coordinate and synchronize activities to direct the operations and defense of specified DoD networks.

Therefore, we made no changes to

the report.

Item 12. (Page 12, Ineffective Coordination Impeded IPv6 Migration)

Excerpt: "In fact, the DISA IPv6 lead stated that the two groups have met only once to discuss IPv6 since he took over DISA IPv6 efforts in December 2013."

Management Comment

The Director disputed the factual accuracy of the sentence, stating USCYBERCOM personnel met with DISA personnel once at DISA HQ and twice over the phone in January/February 2014, concerning IPv6 implementation and participated in the IPv6 working group until it ceased in October/November 2013.

Our Response

We added a sentence stating the Director, C4 Systems and CIO Support (J6) stated that DISA and USCYBERCOM met once and talked on the phone twice during this period. However, the DISA IPv6 lead was unaware of the meeting and phone conversations.

Item 13. (Page 15, Further Delay Could Raise IPv6 Migration Costs and Increase Risk from Adversaries)

Excerpt: "The result will be increased transition difficulty, complexity, and cost."

Management Comment

The Director recommended that we delete the excerpt. He stated that transition difficulty and complexity will not change over time but may be reduced as technology capabilities advance. Furthermore, the Director stated that cost would increase consistent with inflation but would not increase relative to the net present value.

Our Response

According to a 2007 white paper prepared by the DoD IPv6 transition manager, the longer IPv6 implementation is delayed, the more embedded IPv4 will become in critical systems, resulting in increased transition difficulty, complexity, and cost. The DoD IPv6 transition manager stated in June 2014 that this information remains accurate. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 14. (Overall Draft Report)

Management Comment

(FOUO)

Our Response

The "DoD Key Offices Responsible for IPv6 Migration" section on page 3 of the draft report provides the responsibility of DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM as they pertain to IPv6. It also describes the duties of the DoD CIO and DISA as stated in the June 2006 DoD IPv6 Transition Plan. However, as we state in this report, the DoD CIO did not update the plan to include the roles and responsibilities of USCYBERCOM, established in 2009. According to the USCYBERCOM mission statement, USCYBERCOM will plan, coordinate, integrate, synchronize, and conduct activities to direct the operations and defense of DoD networks. Additionally, as we state in this report, USCYBERCOM approval is necessary to enable IPv6 on the NIPRNet. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 15. (Page i, Results in Brief)

Excerpt: "Although DoD satisfied the requirement to demonstrate IPv6 on the network backbone by June 2008, DoD did not complete the necessary Federal and DoD requirements and deliverables to effectively migrate the DoD enterprise network to IPv6. This occurred because:

- DoD Chief Information Officer (CIO) and U.S. Cyber Command (USCYBERCOM) did not make IPv6 a priority;
- DoD CIO, USCYBERCOM, and Defense Information Systems Agency (DISA) lacked an effectively coordinated effort and did not use available resources to further DoD-wide transition toward IPv6; and
- DoD CIO did not have a current plan of action and milestones to advance DoD IPv6 migration."

Management Comment

The Director stated the bulleted paragraphs are "a bit harsh" and omit the real security concern.

Our Response

(FOUO) The bulleted statements are supported by information obtained during the audit.

Therefore, we

made no changes to the report.

Item 16. (Page i, Results in Brief)

Excerpt: "DoD CIO, DISA, and USCYBERCOM lacked an effectively coordinated effort and did not use available resources to further DoD-wide transition toward IPv6."

Management Comment

The Director recommended that we add NSA to the coordination.

Our Response

As discussed in the DoD IPv6 cybersecurity meeting held by the DoD CIO in June 2014, NSA agreed to coordinate on future discussions and actions regarding enabling IPv6 on DoD networks. Further, based on the DoD CIO comments to the draft report, DoD CIO will draft and coordinate a memorandum with transition milestones, roles, responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms for each DoD office involved in the IPv6 implementation with input from DISA, USCYBERCOM, and NSA. Because NSA has already agreed to coordinate on IPv6 implementation and will be providing input to the DoD CIO memorandum, we did not revise the recommendation to specifically include NSA in the coordination.

Item 17. (Page 1, Background)

Excerpt: "With the success of the Internet has come great demand for IP addresses, thereby exhausting the supply of available IPv4 addresses. On February 3, 2011, the Internet Assigned Numbers Authority issued the remaining IPv4 address blocks, thereby exhausting the supply of IPv4 addresses."

Management Comment

The Director stated that the excerpt is oversimplified.

Our Response

We made no changes to the report.

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

Items 18 and 19. (Page 1, Background)

Excerpt: "Additionally, DoD Component networks enabled by IPv6 will support greater information sharing, resulting in improved military effectiveness."

Management Comment

The Director recommended rewording the sentence to state that IPv6 can offer improved network operations agility, as opposed to greater information sharing. Additionally, he recommended that we add the following sentence: "More importantly, mobile operators all over the world, including major U.S. operators, are deploying IPv6."

Our Response

The excerpt was taken from a 2007 white paper prepared by the DoD IPv6 transition manager. As of June 2014, the DoD IPv6 transition manager confirmed that this information remains accurate. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 20. (Page 4, Finding)

Excerpt: "DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not make IPv6 a priority;"

Management Comment

The Director requested that we add a 4th fourth bullet stating, "DoD had very serious concerns about DoD technical and personnel readiness to conduct network defense operations in a dual-stack environment."

Our Response

During the audit, we did not receive supporting documentation from USCYBERCOM or NSA regarding technical and personnel readiness for IPv6 operations. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 21. (Page 5, IPv6 Migration Requirements Not Met)

Excerpt: "However, DoD did not meet the FY 2012 and FY 2014 OMB requirement and is not on schedule to meet the FY 2014 requirement."

Management Comment

The Director recommended revising "is not on schedule" to "DoD will not meet FY 2014 OMB requirements."
Our Response

We revised the report to state DoD did not meet the FY 2014 OMB requirements.

Item 22. (Page 10, USCYBERCOM Focused on IPv4)

Excerpt: "The division chief stated that because USCYBERCOM was not fully aware of the potential risks in transitioning to IPv6 or in protecting the IPv6 network, it prioritized funds to protect the current IPv4 network."

Management Comment

The Director stated his memory of the meeting is that USCYBERCOM was not able to quantify the potential risks posed by enabling IPv6, or how to manage those risks in defensive operations.

Our Response

As we state in this report, the USCYBERCOM division chief of Cyber Operations Planning stated that USCYBERCOM was not fully aware of the potential risks in transitioning to IPv6 or in protecting the IPv6 network, USCYBERCOM prioritized funds to protect the current IPv4 network. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 23. (Page 12, Ineffective Coordination Impeded IPv6 Migration)

(FOUO) Excerpt: "According to the technical director for the NSA Information Assurance Directorate, the main concern was that defensive systems and sensors had not yet evolved to include IPv6 functionality."

Management Comment

The Director recommended that we add "at that time (gate FY11)," after "main concern."

Our Response

The sentence has been reworded to state: "According to the technical director for the NSA Information Assurance Directorate, the main concern at that time (FY 2011) was that defensive systems and sensors had not yet evolved to include IPv6 functionality."

Item 24. (Page 14, Plans for Migrating to IPv6 Not Updated)

Excerpt: "However, DoD did not accomplish the FY 2012 requirements and is not on track to meet FY 2014 requirements to operationally enable native IPv6."

Management Comment

The Director recommended revising "is not on track" to "will not meet."

Our Response

We revised the report to state DoD did not meet the FY 2014 OMB requirements.

Item 25. (Page 14, Delayed Benefits of IPv6 in Battlefield Operations)

Excerpt: "Continued use of IPv4 will delay the potential benefits of IPv6, such as improved communication, warfighter mobility, situational awareness, and quality of service."

Management Comment

The Director stated the report excerpt is factual but omits the defensive operations burden imposed by network address translation, which IPv6 could reduce or eliminate.

Our Response

During the audit, we were not provided supporting documentation for the defensive operations burden imposed by network address translation, which IPv6 could reduce or eliminate. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Item 26. (Page 16, Recommendation 3)

Excerpt: "In coordination with the Commander, U.S. Cyber Command, and the Director, Defense Information Systems Agency, develop new DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 transition milestones, roles, and responsibilities for each DoD office involved with the migration, as well as enforcement mechanisms to ensure successful migration to Internet Protocol Version 6; and update the DoD Internet Protocol Version 6 Transition Plan to reflect these changes."

Management Comment

The Director recommended that we add NSA to the recommendation.

Our Response

As discussed in the DoD IPv6 cybersecurity meeting held by the DoD CIO in June 2014, NSA agreed to coordinate on future discussions and actions regarding enabling IPv6 on DoD networks. Further, based on the DoD CIO comments to the draft report, DoD CIO will draft and coordinate a memorandum with transition milestones, roles, responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms for each DoD office involved in the IPv6 implementation with input from DISA, USCYBERCOM, and NSA. Because NSA has already agreed to coordinate on IPv6 implementation and will be providing input to the DoD CIO memorandum, we did not revise the recommendation to specifically include NSA in the coordination.

Item 27. (Overall Draft Report)

Management Comment

(FOUO)			

Our Response

During the audit, we did not receive supporting documentation from USCYBERCOM or NSA regarding technical and personnel readiness for IPv6 operations. Therefore, we made no changes to the report.

Management Comments

DoD Chief Information Officer Comments

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 6000 DEFENSE PENTAGON WASHINGTON, D.C. 20301-6000 OCT 2 2 2014 MEMORANDUM FOR PROGRAM DIRECTOR, READINESS AND CYBER OPERATIONS, INSPECTOR GENERAL OF THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE REFERENCE: Program Director, Readiness and Cyber Operations, Office of the DoD Inspector General Memorandum, "DoD Needs to Reinitiate Migration to Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6) (Project No. D2014-D000RB-0068.000)," September 15, 2014 SUBJECT: Draft Report "Department of Defense Needs to Reinitiate Migration to Internet Protocol Version 6 (Project Number D2014-D000RB-0068.000)" The referenced memorandum requested the DoD CIO review and comment on the findings and recommendations contained in the subject draft report. Attached are the findings and recommendations identified in the draft report and the DoD CIO comments. My point of contact for this matter is at email: David L. De Vries Principal Deputy Acting Attachment: As stated

DOD IG DRAFT REPORT DATED SEPTEMBER 15, 2014 (PROJECT NO. D2014-D000RB-0068.000)

"DOD NEEDS TO REINITIATE MIGRATION TO INTERNET PROTOCOL VERSION 6"

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER COMMENTS TO THE DOD IG FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

GENERAL: DoD Is Not Effectively Migrating to IPv6. Although DoD satisfied the OMB M-05-22 requirement to demonstrate IPv6 on the network backbone by June 2008. DoD did not complete the Federal and DoD requirements and deliverables to effectively migrate the DoD enterprise network to IPv6. This occurred because:

SUB FINDING 1: DoD CIO and U.S. Cyber Command (USCC) did not make IPv6 a priority

DoD CIO RESPONSE:

Disagree. IPv6 is a DoD priority, but conducting an expensive transition from IPv4 to an IPv6 environment is not cost effective nor warranted. Based on technology changes and lessons learned in recent years, DoD has implemented IPv6 enclaves which support necessary IPv6based operations while maintaining the extensive IPv4 environment of today. Additionally, DoD has sufficient IPv4 address space to support future operations. There is no DoD Component operational imperative or business case to implement IPv6. Further, the security of DoD networks is the highest priority of the Department. The Department is taking concrete steps (described below) to address the USCC cybersecurity concerns and continue IPv6 implementation as warranted.

SUB FINDING 2: DoD CIO, USCC, and the Defense Information Systems Agency (DISA) 1) lacked an effectively coordinated effort and 2) did not use available resources to further DoDwide transition toward IPv6 operations.

DoD CIO RESPONSE:

Disagree DoD CIO, USCC, and DISA lacked an effectively coordinated effort. The Department effectively coordinated with all Components to ensure DoD networks are capable of utilizing IPv6 (e.g., the Sensitive but Unclassified IP Router Network is IPv6 capable via dual stack and IP devices are certified for IPv6 capability prior to connection to DoD networks). Based on technology changes in recent years and a rise in the sophistication of the cyber threat, additional research and development is required to resolve the cybersecurity concerns raised by USCC in November 2012. To effectively coordinate a resolution to the cybersecurity concerns, DoD CIO is collaborating with USCC and DISA to develop an updated plan of action and milestones (POA&M) which includes development of a limited IPv6 deployment plan in first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

Disagree DoD CIO, USCC, and DISA did not use all available resources to further DoD-wide transition toward IPv6 operations. To test and evaluate many aspects of IPv6 implementation.

the Department leveraged the Air Force Research Lab, the Air Force Information Warfare Center, the National Security Agency (NSA), the Joint Interoperability Test Command test facilities, the Army Technology Information Center, the Navy Space and Warfare Systems Command laboratories, and the Defense Research and Engineering Network. As the DoD evolves the IPv6 implementation, DoD CIO, USCC, and DISA will continue to leverage available test and evaluation resources from USCC, NSA. Military Department CIOs, High Performance Computing Modernization Program/Defense Research and Engineering Network, and other DoD test and evaluation facilities.

SUB FINDING 3: DoD CIO did not have a current plan of action and milestones to advance DoD IPv6 migration efforts.

DoD CIO RESPONSE: Partially agree. DoD developed a transition plan in 2006 and a followon POA&M in 2011 advancing IPv6 implementation efforts based on knowledge at that time. Although 2011 POA&M actions are still relevant, timelines and scope have changed due to changing technology and changing cyber threat. DoD CIO is revisiting development of a limited IPv6 deployment plan with USCC and DISA by second quarter of fiscal year 2015 and development of an updated POA&M based on that plan.

RECOMMENDATION 1: Establish a DoD-wide Internet Protocol version 6 transition office and working groups to advance DoD's transition to Internet Protocol version 6. At a minimum, working groups should include representation from DISA, USCC, Defense Research and Engineering Network, and Service Chief Information Officers.

DoD CIO RESPONSE: Disagree. There is no need for a DoD IPv6 transition office with dedicated resources from DISA, USCC, Defense Research and Engineering Network, and Service Chief Information Officers. The DoD has adopted a more agile and resource-efficient approach by establishing a steering group to coordinate Department IPv6 implementation actions, address USCC cybersecurity issues, and define the way forward to obtain USCC authorization of IPv6 on DoD networks. The group is led by the DoD CIO and consists of representatives from DISA, USCC, Defense Research and Engineering Network, and Military Department Chief Information Officers. Additionally, DISA has established an Integrated Project Team (IPT) consisting of representatives from DoD CIO, USCC, and NSA to address the technical aspects required to implement IPv6 actions.

RECOMMENDATION 2: In coordination with the Commander, U.S. Cyber Command; the Director. Defense Information Systems Agency: the Commander, U.S. Army Information Systems and Engineering Command/Army Technology Integration Center; the Director, High Performance Computing Modernization Program/Defense Research and Engineering Network; and other DoD test and evaluation components, establish a process to integrate component testing results and lessons learned into DoD Internet Protocol version. 6 migration efforts.

DoD CIO RESPONSE: Agree. The DoD CIO will continue to work with the various research and development centers and test centers to assess IPv6 threats and to develop

appropriate counter measures to these threats. Additionally, the DISA IPv6 IPT will integrate component testing results and lessons learned to guide IPv6 implementation efforts and inform the pace, scope, and timing of the IPv6 deployment. IPv6 test and evaluation results and analysis of the initial limited deployment should be available in third quarter of fiscal year 2015.

RECOMMENDATION 3: In coordination with the Commander, U.S. Cyber Command, and the Director, Defense Information Systems Agency, develop new DoD Internet Protocol version 6 transition milestones, roles and responsibilities of each DoD office involved with the migration, and enforcement mechanisms to ensure successful migration to Internet Protocol version 6; and update the DoD Internet Protocol version 6 Transition Plan to reflect these changes.

DoD CIO RESPONSE: Agree. The DoD CIO will draft and coordinate a memorandum with transition milestones, roles, responsibilities, and enforcement mechanisms for each DoD office involved with the IPv6 implementation. The DoD CIO will involve USCC, DISA, NSA, Military Department CIOs, High Performance Computing Modernization Program/Defense Research and Engineering Network, and other DoD test and evaluation components, as appropriate, in drafting this memorandum. The updated POA&M will be issued in third quarter of fiscal year 2015.

RECOMMENDATION 4: Develop procedures to monitor the status of Internet Protocol version 6 milestones as identified in Recommendation 3 and elevate milestone deficiencies to the Deputy Secretary of Defense for information and potential corrective action if delays exceed 90 days.

DoD CIO RESPONSE: Partially agree. The DoD CIO will monitor status of all IPv6 milestones contained in the POA&M, as appropriate. DoD CIO will elevate deficiencies exceeding 90 days on a case-by-case basis.

ADDITIONAL DoD CIO COMMENTS:

The DoD CIO comments on the internal control weaknesses discussed in the report are included in the DoD CIO's comments to the findings.

Enclosed is the Navy, Deputy CIO information provided to the Office of Inspector General in response to a request for information. It appears this information was not taken into account in the final draft report. Specifically, the Navy does maintain an inventory of IP compliant devices in the Department of Navy Application and Database Management System, which is not reflected in this report. Also, the Navy provided a recommendation during review of the unofficial draft report to aggregate interview responses from individuals to the Military Service level. This recommendation was not accepted by the Office of the Inspector General of the Department of Defense in developing the draft official report. Please consider the Navy, Deputy CIO input when developing the final official report.





U.S. Cyber Command Comments

	UNITED STATES CYBER COMMAND 9800 SAVAGE ROAD, SUITE 6477 FORT GEORGE G. MEADE, MARYLAND 20755
Aller Dall	23 Oct 14
Reply to: USCYBERCOM/ 9800 Savage Road Fort Meade, MD 2	6 . Ste 6477
MEMORANDUM ATTN:	FOR DOD IG READINESS AND CYBER OPERATIONS
Subject: Draft Rep 15 Sep 14	port. "DoD Needs to Reinitiate Migration to Internet Protocol Version 6," dte 4, Project No. D2014-D000RB-0068.000
Reference:	email, same subj. dtd 15 Sep 14
comments attached	within USCYBERCOM and NSA have reviewed the draft report, with f. Overall USCYBERCOM concurs with the recommendations contained ever, there are several areas of concern that we have offered comment and as
If you have any	questions, please contact the undersigned at
Attachments: Enclosure A – IP	v6 CRM
Copy:	

U.S. Cyber Command Comments (cont'd)

		(U) IG Drat	t Report, "DoD Needs to Reinvigorate (U) Comment Matrix		1	Reference
_			"For comment matrix instructions, see "Instructions" tab at	bottom left.		
ara or Line #	POC Info: (Organization, Name, Title, Phone)	Comment Type Critical (C) Substantive (S) Administrative (A)	Please remember to portion mark classified comme Comments (Use classification portion markings)	Rationale (Use classification portion markings)	Adjudication (Accepted or Rejected) (Use classification portion markings) (For Policy Officer Use Cervy)	d 11
-	USC VEEDOM		(U) When listing the three organization, list 'DoD CIO, DISA, and LISC/XEEDCOM' is that order	Continuity introughout document		Revised
para, line			of funding contraints and competing operational requirements.			Reviseu
5	J6 Director, USCYBERCOM	5	DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM. (U) 1st bullet, change to " DoD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not			
ti cara	S Devery LISCY/RERCOM	8	Imake three a phoney because of compessing operational requirements and budget constraints." Move to bottom of bullet last			
	0.000.000.000		(U) Delete " including to battlefield operations. Furthermore, the delay in migration could increase DoD's costs and its			
III SANIA	J65 C4(T/CIO Support.	\$	wanerability to adversaries." After 3rd bullet			
			(U) Change to read.*			
para, ine iti	AS DIRECTOR, USC YEERCOM	5	(U) Change to read." USCYBERCOM was locuted on detense of the IPvd metwork became of a samificantly increased.			
para line 4	16 Director, USCYBERCOM	5	Breat environment and Ital Dere" (U) Change to read." The division chief also stated that because			
			of a significant increase in IPv4 threat activity and likely risk associated to trransitioning to IPv6 and protecting the IPv6			
para. Ime 15	IS DIRECTOR, USCYBERCOM	5	Instwork, If locused effort on protecting the current IPv4 network, " starting at the end of the line			
but many	E Director US/VSED*CAL		request from DISA and DoD CIQ for a communications tasking			
and para	US OFBLID . UNC I DENLOW	2	USCYBERCOM on what DISA needs to do to implement IPv6			
i para leiei 3	H Orector, USCYBERICOM	ś	In addition, DeD CIO and USCYBERCOM did not coordinate their use of liest resources."			
entere	J6 Director, USCYBERCOM	5	(V) Delete "In addition, DoD CID and USCYBERCOM did not coordinate their use of testing resources"	(U) DISA has the responsibility to perform testing (ref. p.3. 1st paral.		Lot and a second
			(U) Tin fact, the DISA IPv6 lead stated that the two groups have	(U) This is incorrect. met with DISA personnel once at DISA HQ and wrice over the		Revised, Page 1
	E Director LISTYBERICAN		ener onlyonoi to docursi IPV6 since he tora over OSA IPV6 efforts in December 2013."	Implementation / USCYBERCOM has participated in the IPv5		
rid part	PO LANGUE LIDL TREALLOW			but may be reduced as technology capabilities advance. Cost		
i para, ine 5	USCYBERCOM	s	(U) Delete sentence. "The result will be increased"	would be a factor of inflation, but not increase relative to the ret prevent value		
	Wat and shares					
NI.	USCYBERCOM	3		-	Classified By	
			UNCLASSIFIED//FOR OFFICIAL USE ON	LY.	Dated 20070108 Declassify On 20390401	
	11 (11 (11 (11 (11 (11 (11 (11 (11 (11	Ine 8 (Orgenization, Name, Title, Prione) Ine 6 Ine CAT / Sto Suspent, USC/RERCOM USC/RERCOM Ine 5 Ine 5 Ine 6 Ine 6 Ine 6 Ine 6 Ine 7 Ine 8 Ine 8 Ine 7 Ine 8 Ine	Ara or Ine 8 POC Info: (Organization, Name, Time, Phone) Difficit (C) Substantive (A) Sist CATICO'Stacton, USCYBERCOM Sist CATICO'Stacton, USCYBERCOM Sister (S) Sister	(U) IG Draft Report, "DOD Needs to Reinvigorate (U) Comment Matrix UNICATA Interest inte 3 "Interest POC Info: (Organization, Name, This, Phone) Comment Type Cricic (C) Substantive (Organization, Name, This, Phone) Comment Type Cricic (C) Substantive (D) Memory Data (D) Composition (D) COL DOL (SCYRERCOM Comment Type Cricic (C) Substantive (D) (D) Memory Data (D) Col DOL DOL DOL (SCYRERCOM Comment Substantive (D) (D) Memory Data (D) Col DOL DOL DOL (SCYRERCOM Comment Substantive (D) (D) Col DOL (SCYRERCOM Comment Substantive (D) (D) Col DOL (SCYRERCOM 10 Dector, LISCYRERCOM S DOL COL DOL (SCYRERCOM Col DOL (D) Col DOL (SCYRERCOM (S) (D) Col DOL (SCYRERCOM) Col DOL (D) Col DOL (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) Col Col Dol (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Col Col Col (SCYRERCOM) (E) Col Col Col Col Col	PDC Info: (Operinduction, see Technological Content in the Content	U) DD Date Report, "DD D. Needs to Repluy Gorate Migration to IPV6" (U) Durban Date Intervention State Intervention The comment Type Tennent State Intervention Report Intervention State Intervention Report Intervention State Intervention Report Intervention Comment Type Tennent State Intervention Report Intervention Comment Type Tennent State Intervention Adjustation Report Intervention Comment Type Tennent State Intervention Comment Type Tennent Typ

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

U.S. Cyber Command Comments (cont'd)

-		-	10000	it Report,"DoD Needs to Reinvigorate			Final Report Reference
			(U) IO Drai	(U) Comment Matrix 9/26/2014	migration to IFV 0		
				"For comment matrix, instructions, see "Instructions" tab at Please remember to portion mark classified comme	looteen left.		
Page #	Para or Line #	POC Info: (Organization, Name, Title, Phone)	Comment Type Critical (C) Substantive (S) Administrative (A)	Comments (Use classification portion markings)	Rationale (Use classification portion markings)	Adjudication (Accepted or Rejected) (Use classification portion markings) (For Policy Offician Use Only)	
	Facting. buileted paragraphs	IA Technical Director: NSA		Builleting perographs are a bit harsh and total real security crocers			
	ion. 3rd buileted			(U) Add NSA to the coordination.	(U) Due to NSD 24 authorities. NSA should be included in the coordination on IPv6 milestones. roles. and responsibilities		
	paragraphs 2nd paragraph	IA Technical Director, NSA	5	(U) Last 2 sentitions are over simplified.			
1	Jid patis	IA Technical Director, NSA	5	Last sentence. "will support greater information sharing should be reworded.	(U) Not sure this is unaffect, what evidence? Better to say that IPV6 can offer interoved network operations apMy		
			In the second	(U) Add a sentence. "More importantly, mobile operators all over the world, including major U.S. operators, are deploying.			
1	3rd para	IA Technical Director, NSA	1 11	IPV6." (U) Add a 4th builet."- It is also true that DoD (DISA, NSA, USCC, CIO) had very serious concerns about DoD technical and personnel readmess to conduct network definite operations.			
4	bulleted parass Para 3, last	A Technical Director, NSA	5	and personnel readiness to conduct network derands operations in a dual-stack environment * (U) Reword "is not on schedule" to "DoD will not meet FY 2014			Dentand
5	second para,	A Technical Director, NSA	5	OMB requirements " (U) My memory of this meeting is that the 36 said that USCC			Revised
10	second senierce	IA Technical Director, NSA IA Technical Director, NSA	5	was not able to quantify the potential risks posed by enabling IPv6, or how to manage those risks in defensive operations.			Daviar J. Deres 4
12	first sentence second para.	IA Technical Director, NSA	5	(U) Add, "at that time (gate FY11)," after "concern."		-	Revised, Page 1 Revised, Page 1
14	second sentence	A Technical Drector, NSA	5	(U) Change "is not on track" to "will not meet" (U) This long paragraph is true, but cmit the detensive			Revised, Page 1
14-15	Delayed	A Technical Director, NSA	\$	(U) This long paragraph is true, but omit the detentive operations burden imposed by NAT which IPv6 could reduce or eliminate.		C	
14-10	Benefits para Recommendae on 3 . first	The recreated prector, rese		(U) insen "and NSA" after Delense information Systems.	(U) Due to NSD-24 authorities, NSA strouts be included wither		
16	sentende	A Technical Director, NSA	5	Agency	coordination on IPvill Initiationes, itolas, and responsibilities		
OV	ERALL	DIAD Special Projects Office VS	5			Classified By	
v	ERALL	040 Special Projects Office - VS	5	DIVELASSIMECTIV OF OFFICIAL USE OF	-	Classified By Denves From NSACS301 1-32 Declassify On 20390401	
00	ERALL	040 Sexoal Projects Office - VS	s	Wethsomeow of Mank Use on		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
0/	ERALL	340 Sexoal Projects (filor - VS	s	SHOLASOF ENTOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
00	ERALL	340 Special Projects Office - V5	5	SHOLASOF EXIFOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
0/	ERALL	340 Special Projects Office - V5	5	SINGLASS/REGIFICAL OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
0/	ERALL	340 Sexoal Proets (filor - V2	5	SHOLASOF EDIFOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
0/	ERALL	340 Sexoal Proets (filor - V2	5	SHOLASOF EDIFOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
ov	ERALL	340 Sexoal Proets (filor - V2	5	SHOLASOF EDIFOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
ov	ERALL	340 Sexoal Proets (filor - V2	5	DINCLASOF EDITOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
ow	ERALL	340 Sexoal Proets (filor - V2	5	DISCLASOFFEDITOR OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
04	ERALL	340 Sexoal Projects (filor - 17	5	SNELASAIPREAIPREAIPREAIPREAIPREAIPREAIPREAIPRE		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
04	ERALL	DAD Sexoal Projects (Pfice - V2	5	Invertastanceur or or annual use en		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
09	ERALL	DAD Sextal Projects (filor - 1/2	5	SWELASSIFIED IN OFFICIAL USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
04	ERALL	340 Sexoal Poets Office - VS	5	THAT THE BRUNCH ON OLUGAR OCT		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
0	ERALL	340 Sexoal Poets Office - VS	5	TROCTARDILLEGAL ON OLLOWING ON ONLOW		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
09	ERALL	340 Sexoal Poets Office - VS	5	TROCTARRILLEGAL ON OLLOWING ON ONLOGI CA		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
- 09	ERALL	340 Sexoal Poets Office - VS	5	TREEVERING ON OUTCOME USE ON		Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	
09	ERALL	340 Sexoal Poets Office - VS	5			Derived From NSA/CSSM 1-52 Dated 20070108	

Glossary

Battlefield Operation: The process of carrying on combat, including movement, supply, attack, defense, and maneuvers needed to gain the objectives of any battle or campaign.

Dual Stack: Method of IPv4 to IPv6 transition in which each host is both IPv4 and IPv6 aware. Dual stack hosts run both IPv4 and IPv6 protocols and allocate addresses for both protocols.

Internet Protocol (IP): The standardized "envelope" that carries addressing, routing, and message-handling information, thereby enabling a message to be transmitted from its source to its final destination over the various interconnected networks that comprise the Internet.

IPv4: The protocol currently in use on the Internet. IPv4 was the first stable version of the IP based on a 32 bit address format, which equates to approximately 4.3 billion IP addresses.

IPv6: The next-generation network layer protocol of the Internet designed to handle the growth of the Internet and to cope with the demanding requirements of services, mobility, and end-to-end security. The key characteristics of IPv6 are designed to greatly expand available IP address space.

Joint Information Environment (JIE): A secure joint information environment comprised of shared IT infrastructure, enterprise services, and a single security architecture to achieve full-spectrum superiority, improve mission effectiveness, increase security, and realize IT efficiencies.

Native IPv6: The transition to IPv6 without the use of translators, tunnels (IPv4 carrying IPv6). End users can communicate entirely via IPv6.

Network Backbone: For the purposes of IPv6 migration, a network backbone is the set of network transport devices (routers, switches) that provide the highest level of traffic aggregation in the network.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

- CIO Chief Information Officer
- **DISA** Defense Information Systems Agency
- DITO DoD IPv6 Transition Office
- **DREN** Defense Research and Engineering Network
- HPCMP High Performance Computing Modernization Program
 - IP Internet Protocol
 - IPv4 Internet Protocol Version 4
 - IPv6 Internet Protocol Version 6
 - JITC Joint Interoperability Test Command
- NIPRNet Non-classified Internet Protocol Router Network
 - NSA National Security Agency
 - OMB Office of Management and Budget
 - TIC Technology Integration Center
- USCYBERCOM U.S. Cyber Command
 - USPACOM U.S. Pacific Command

Whistleblower Protection U.S. Department of Defense

The Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act of 2012 requires the Inspector General to designate a Whistleblower Protection Ombudsman to educate agency employees about prohibitions on retaliation, and rights and remedies against retaliation for protected disclosures. The designated ombudsman is the DoD Hotline Director. For more information on your rights and remedies against retaliation, visit www.dodig.mil/programs/whistleblower.

For more information about DoD IG reports or activities, please contact us:

Congressional Liaison congressional@dodig.mil; 703.604.8324

Media Contact public.affairs@dodig.mil; 703.604.8324

Monthly Update dodigconnect-request@listserve.com

> **Reports Mailing List** dodig_report@listserve.com

> > Twitter twitter.com/DoD_IG

DoD Hotline

dodig.mil/hotline

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY



DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE | INSPECTOR GENERAL

4800 Mark Center Drive Alexandria, VA 22350-1500 www.dodig.mil Defense Hotline 1.800.424.9098

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY